
EXECUTIVE
AGENDA

Venue: Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, 
Catherine Street,Whitehaven 

Date: Tuesday, 15th January, 2019
Time: 2.00 pm
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby                 Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 20 November 
2018 

1 - 14

3. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items: 

4. Written Questions from Members of the Public 

5. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6. Forward Plan 15 - 20

7. 2018/19 Revenue & Capital Budget Monitoring Report - Quarter 2 21 - 28

8. Proposals for Council Tax Discount and Premium Scheme 29 - 42

9. Budget Consultation Outcome To Follow

10. Date and Time of Next Meeting: 

The next meeting of the Executive will be held on Thursday 24th January 2019 at 
1:00pm in the Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven.

NOTES

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except during the 
consideration of exempt or confidential items. If you have a query on the meeting 
arrangements or if you require a copy of this document in a different format (large print, 
braille, audio tape, electronic formats such as CD or in a different language) please contact 
the relevant officer as shown below. 

Public Document Pack



Call-In
Most of the decisions taken by the Executive can be ‘called in’, in accordance with Council’s 
Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision notice being published. It is expected 
that the decision notice will be published on Friday 18 January 2019. Subject to this 
publication, the deadline for calling in any decision is 5.00pm on Friday 25 January 2019. 

Emergency procedures
In the event of a fire alarm being sounded please follow the instructions of the Chair; leave 
the building via the nearest emergency exit and make your way to the Fire Assembly Point 
located in the Copeland Centre car park.

Reporting 
Recording, filming and reporting of this meeting is allowed but must be done in accordance 
with the protocol which is clearly displayed in the room and all mobile devices must be 
switched to silent.

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



Notice of Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers 
by the Executive on Tuesday, 20 November 2018

NOTES: The deadline for calling in any of these decisions is 5.00 pm on 30 November 2018.

A copy of the Executive agenda setting out all the reports has previously been circulated to all 
Members of the Council.

Please note that items 6 – Housing Strategy and 8 - Member Development Strategy are 
recommendations to Council and therefore cannot be called in.

Officers are asked to read this Decision Notice, as it is the responsibility of the Officer named in 
the Action Column to ensure that the appropriate action is taken.

If you require further information on any issue please contact the Officer named in the right hand 
column.  For general information or to obtain a copy of any documentation please contact 
Member Services.

Present: Mike Starkie, Mayor, Councillors David Moore, Mark Holliday and Allan Holliday

An apology for absence was received from Sarah Pemberton, Head of Governance and 
Commercial.

Present: Pat Graham, Chief Executive; Julie Betteridge, Corporate Director Operations, Steven 
Brown, Chief Financial Officer; Mike Graham Political Advisor; Andrew Clarke Communications and 
Engagement Manager; Denise James, Democratic Services Officer.

Leanne Birkett, Procurement Officer and Gillian Butterworth, Performance and Risk Management 
Officer Agenda Items 1-11; James Young, Scrutiny Officer Agenda Items 1-7 and Amanda Starr, 
Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion Manager Agenda Items 5-6

Statements of Decision – That subject to it being noted that Mike Graham, Political Advisor was in 
attendance the Statements of decisions made on the 10 September were signed by the Mayor as a 
correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS IN AGENDA ITEMS:

Decision

No declarations of Interest were made by those present.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

There were no declaration of interest to declare.

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
4 WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Decision

Not applicable as no questions had been received from Members of the 
public.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
5A REPORT FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Decision

RESOLVED – That a) the recommendation that the Overview and Scrutiny 
Performance Sub Committee comment of quarterly performance report 
prior to consideration by the Executive be not approved; and 

b) it be noted that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will create a task 
and    finish group to formulate a response to the next round of consultation 
on the Green Paper.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

To approve the recommendation that the Overview and Scrutiny 
Performance Sub-Committee make recommendations and comment on 
quarterly performance and   finance reports before they come to the 
Executive.

N/A

Page 3



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
5B REPORT FROM PERFORMANCE SUB COMMITTEE

Decision

RESOLVED – That the recommendation from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee – Performance Sub that: -

a) Note that the Overview and Scrutiny Performance Sub-Committee see a 
lack of progress on Key Deliverable 3 – Parking Strategy and the need to 
involve wider partners. They request that Copeland Disability Forum, 
Cumbria County Council Local Committee and Whitehaven Town Council 
are consulted on the Parking Strategy; 
b) Suggest the use of impact measures to monitor the success of Key 
Deliverable 8 – Open for Business Conference and Two Smaller Spin-Off 
Summits; 
c) Advise the Executive to reiterate the commitment and enforcement of 
affordable home building in housing developments; 
d) Give consideration to making the four Waste Operatives on temporary 
contracts full time employees; 
e) Forward this report and recommendations to the Executive.

be not approved.

Reason for Decision

During Consideration of this item the Mayor expressed concern that during 
the meeting of the Performance Sub Committee Members of the Corporate 
Leadership Team along with the Mayors Political Advisor had been asked to 
leave the meeting when they could have been on hand to answer the many 
questions asked at the time. 

Executive noted that the recommendations in the report were all already in 
process by Council officers and hence in line with this made the decision not 
to agree the recommendations. 

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

To approve the recommendations.

N/A

Page 4



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
6. HOUSING STRATEGY

Decision

RESOLVED – That 

(a) the emerging refresh of the Copeland Housing Strategy be noted; 
and 

(b) delegated authority for the Executive Director and Strategic Housing 
& Social Inclusion Manager be granted to finalise the document and 
prior to submission to Full Council for formal approval and adoption.

Reason for Decision

The Copeland Housing Strategy is a public document setting out The 
Councils strategic plan. The Council is required to demonstrate to 
Government how it is working with communities to plan and build better 
places to live for everyone.  This involves building more housing to 
significantly increase the housing supply, improving the quality of existing 
housing and places and providing housing related support for vulnerable 
people.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other option was considered.

Amanda Starr – 
Strategic 
Housing and 
Social Inclusion 
Manager

Page 5



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
7. FORWARD PLAN

Decision

RESOLVED – That the Forward Plan of Key decisions and Work Plan be 
noted.

Reason for Decision

The Local Authority (Executive Arrangements (Access to information 
(England) Regulations 2012 requires a forward plan to be prepared in 
respect of key decisions.  The work plan is good practice.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
8. MEMBER DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

Decision

RESOLVED – That the revised Member Development Strategy be agreed and 
it be recommended to Council for formal approval and adoption, to re-
affirm continued commitment to training and development for Members.

Reason for Decision

The draft Strategy provides further clarification on roles and responsibilities, 
including those of individual Members for their own learning and 
development, the Member Development Panel in overseeing and 
supporting activities, and of relevant officers. It also contains clear links to 
the Council’s overall corporate objectives.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other option considered.

Sarah 
Pemberton – 
Head of 
Governance and 
Commercial

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
9. COUNCIL PERFORMANCE PLAN - QUARTER 2 Jo McLeod – 

Page 6



Decision

RESOLVED – That 

a) progress and performance against the Corporate Strategy be noted;

b) the actions taken to improve compliance with targets be noted; 

c) the recommendations made by the Overview and Scrutiny Performance 
Sub-Committee on the previous Quarter One Performance Report be not 
approved. (Decision EXE xx above refers.)

Reason for Decision

The report provides the Executive with details of progress and performance 
against the Corporate Strategy 2016-2020 for Quarter Two of 2018-19.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Head of 
Corporate 
Resources

Page 7



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
10. PROCUREMENT STRATEGY

Decision

RESOLVED – That a) the Procurement and Contract Management Strategy 
2018-2021 as set out in Appendix A to the report be noted; and 

b) the cross referencing with Social Inclusion, Equality and Safeguarding be 
delegated to the Head of Governance and Commercial (MO) in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder.

Reason for Decision

The Procurement and Contract Management Strategy sets out a framework 
to ensure both the Council’s commercial arrangements and contracts 
awarded, are fit for purpose and offer excellent value for money.  It will also 
ensure our procurement expenditure provides the best possible social value 
for our residents, businesses and tax payers.

Members of the Executive in approving the Strategy thanked the officers for 
their hard work in producing the document.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other option was considered.

Sarah 
Pemberton – 
Head of 
Governance and 
Commercia

Page 8



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
11. INITIATION OF THE PROCUREMENT PROCESS FOR LEGAL SERVICES 

RELATING TO NUCLEAR AND ENERGY MATTERS

Decision

RESOLVED - That the initiation of the procurement process for legal services 
relating to nuclear power, decommissioning, radioactive waste 
management and wider energy related issues be approved.

Reason for Decision

The existing contract for Legal Advisors to the Council in relation to Nuclear 
Power, Nuclear Decommissioning, Radioactive Waste Management and 
wider energy related issues was signed in 2011, with an initial term of 4 
years.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other option was considered.

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive

Page 9



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
12 2017/18 REVENUE & CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING REPORT - 

PROVISIONAL OUTTURN 

Decision

RESOLVED – That a) the 2017/18 Provisional Revenue Outturn of an £80k 
net overspend, this is based on Government approval of the Capitalisation 
Request for the Cyber costs for 2017/18 (See Paragraph1.5 and Appendix A 
to the report) be noted; 

b) the summary of the revenue outturn variances (See Paragraph 1.8 and 
Appendix A to the report) be noted;  and 

c) the transfer to earmarked reserves of £1,134k including budget carry 
forward requests of £446k, subject to reporting to Council, to allow the 
completion of previously approved programmes and projects (See 
Paragraph 1.6 and Appendix B to the report be agreed); 

Reason for Decision

In line with the budget setting process.  This Provisional Outturn report sets 
out the year-end results against the Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets 
for the 2017/18 financial year. 

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other option was considered.

Steven Brown, 
Chief Financial 
Officer

Page 10



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
13. 2017/18 PROVISIONAL ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REVIEW 

Decision

RESOLVED – That 

a) the 2017/18 Provisional Annual Treasury Management Review 
detailed in the report be noted;

b) the provisional 2017/18 prudential indicators attached at Appendix 
A to the report be approved;

c) the make-up of the portfolio of investments as at 31 March 2018 
attached at Appendix B to the report be noted; and 

d) it be noted that this report will be considered by the Audit and 
Governance Committee on 30 January 2019 and any 
recommendations will be reported to the Executive at its meeting 
on 12 February 2019.

Reason for Decision

The Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government 
Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of activities 
and to report actual prudential indicators for 2017/18.  This report meets 
the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).

As detailed in the Council’s 2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy and as 
required under the Code, this report will be considered by the Audit and 
Governance Committee on 30 January 2019.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other option was considered.

Steven Brown, 
Chief Financial 
Officer

Page 11



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
14. 2018/19 Q1 REVENUE, CAPITAL & TREASURY BUDGET MONITORING 

REPORT 

Decision

RESOLVED – That 

1. the 2018/19 Q1 Forecast Revenue Outturn of £247k net overspend, this 
is based on Government approval of the Capitalisation Request for the 
Cyber costs for 2018/19 (See Paragraph 1.3 and Appendix A to the report) 
be noted; and 

2. the 2018/19 Q1 Forecast Capital Outturn (See Paragraph 1.12 to the 
report) be noted.

Reason for Decision

In accordance with the Council’s performance monitoring procedures. This 
Q1 Budget Monitoring report sets out the Forecast year-end results against 
the Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets for the 2018/19 financial year.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other option was considered.

Steven Brown, 
Chief Financial 
Officer

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
15. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING:

Decision

It was noted that the next meeting of the Executive would be held on 
Tuesday 11 December 2018 in the Bainbridge Room.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

The Meeting closed at 11.25 am 

Mayor

Page 12



Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

EXE January 2019
MAYOR’S FORWARD PLAN AND WORK PLAN 

 
Part A of this Plan is published in accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012. It provides details of key decisions which the Executive will be making during the above period. 
 
A key decision is a decision made by the Mayor either by himself, through his Executive, by individual Executive members or by officers 
performing an Executive function and is one which either results in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are significant 
(compared to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates) or is one which is significant in terms of its 
effects on communities living or working in an area comprising of two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area. The Council’s 
constitution states that ‘significant’ includes (a) any decision by the Executive in relation to proposed recommendations to Council to amend 
the policy framework; (b) any single item of expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000; or (c) any decision which is likely to have a 
permanent or long term (more than 5 years) effect on the Council or the Borough. 
 
A key decision cannot be made until at least 28 clear days has elapsed between publication of this document and the day the decision is made. 
An exception to this rule is where such publication of intention is impracticable. In those circumstances the period of 28 clear days may be 
reduced to 5 clear days provided that the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been informed of the matter and shorter 
notice has been publicised. If 5 clear days cannot be given then a decision may only be made if the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has agreed to the making of the decision on the ground that the decision is urgent and cannot unreasonably be deferred. 
 
Where the decision maker is shown to be the Executive, the Executive will comprise of Mayor Mike Starkie and Councillors David Moore as 
Deputy Mayor and Allan Holliday and Mark Holliday 
 
Copies of any document listed in the plan will be available from the officer shown in the table when the report is released, subject to them not 
containing confidential or exempt information. 
 
Part B of this Plan is additional items which are to be considered which are not considered to be key decisions. 
 
  

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 6



PART A

Matter in respect of 
which a key decision is to be 
made 

Who will make 
the key 
decision 

Date on which the decision 
will be made 

List of documents decision maker will 
consider and who is the relevant 
contact officer 

Likely to 
contain 
confidential 
or exempt 
information 
 

2018/19 Treasury 
Management - Quarter 2 

Executive Executive 15 January 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

Council Tax Discount and 
Premium Scheme

Executive  Executive 15 January 2019 Julie Betteridge   – Executive Director 
Operations

No

Budget Consultation Outcome Executive Executive 15 January 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer No

2018/19 Revenue Budget 
– Quarter 2 

Executive  Executive 15 January 2019 
               

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Capital Budget 
Quarter 2 

Executive  
 

Executive 15 January 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

Amendments to Discretionary 
Relief Policy

Executive  Executive 24 January 2019 Julie Betteridge   – Executive Director 
Operations

No

P
age 16



Community Led Housing Executive Executive 24 January 2019 Julie Betteridge   – Executive Director 
Operations

Yes

Regeneration Projects Update – 
Coastal Communities Update

Executive Executive 24 January 2019 Julie Betteridge – Executive Director 
Operations

No

Management Rules and 
Regulations – Cemetery 

Executive Executive 24 January 2019 Julie Betteridge   – Executive Director 
Operations

No

Draft Budget Executive Executive 24 January 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer No

Strategic Agreement Executive Executive 24 January 2019 Pat Graham Chief Executive Yes

Whitehaven Sports Centre 
Development 

Council Council 5 February 2019 Julie Betteridge – Executive Director 
Operations

No

Community Asset Transfer Plan Council Executive 12 February 2019 
Council 19 February 2019

Julie Betteridge – Executive Director 
Operations

No

2018/19 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 3

Executive  Executive 12 February 2019 
                

Jo McLeod – Head of Corporate 
Resources

No

Cumbria Public Health Strategy Council Executive 12 February 2019
Council 9 April 2019 

Julie Betteridge – Executive Director 
Operations

No 

Final Budget Council  Council 19 February 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer No            

P
age 17



Public Space Protection Orders Executive  Executive 12 March 2019 
                

Julie Betteridge – Executive Director 
Operations

No            

Off Street Car Parking Order Executive
Council 

Executive 12 March 2019
Council 9 April 2019 

Julie Betteridge – Executive Director 
Operations

No 

Millom Hub Executive Executive 12 March 2019
Council 9 April 2019

Julie Betteridge   – Executive Director 
Operations

Yes

2018/19 Revenue Budget 
– Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive 16 April 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Capital Budget 
Quarter 3 

Executive  
 

Executive 16 April 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Treasury 
Management - Quarter 3 

Executive Executive 16 April 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive May 2019 
            

Jo McLeod – Head of Corporate 
Resources

No

2018/19 Revenue Budget 
– Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive July 2019 
                

Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

2018/19 Capital Budget 
Quarter 4 

Executive  
 

Executive July 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

P
age 18



2018/19 Treasury 
Management - Quarter 4 

Executive Executive July 2019 Steven Brown – S151 Officer
 

No

P
age 19



 

PART B 
 

Report Who will make the 
decision 

Date on which the decision 
will be made 

List of documents decision maker 
will consider and who is the 
relevant contact officer 

Likely to contain 
confidential or 
exempt 
information 
 

Beacon 2019-24  Executive  

Council

Executive 24 January 2019 

Council 5 February 2019

Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations
 

Yes

Health and Safety 
Monitoring ½ Yearly 
Report  

Executive  Executive 12 February 2019 Jo McLeod – Head of Corporate 
Resources

No 

Health and Safety 
Monitoring ½ Yearly 
Report  

Executive  Executive July 2019 Jo McLeod – Head of Corporate 
Resources

No 

Pay Policy Statement Council Council February 2019 Jo McLeod – Head of Corporate 
Resources &
Steven Brown – S151 Officer

No

Outside Bodies Annual 
Report 

Council Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee May 2019 
Council June 2019 

Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations
 

No 

Annual Scrutiny Report Council Council June 2019 Julie Betteridge – Executive 
Director Operations

No 

 

P
age 20



Executive 150119 
 
2018/19 Revenue & Capital Budget Monitoring Report – Q2 (to 30th September 2018) 
 
LEAD OFFICER: Mike Starkie 
REPORT AUTHOR: Steven Brown, Chief Finance Officer 
 
WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS? 
These proposals ensure the proper administration of the Council’s Financial affairs to 
enable the continued delivery of services to Copeland residents.  
 
WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE? 
This Q1 Budget Monitoring report sets out the Forecast year-end results against the 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets for the 2018/19 financial year.  
 
2018/19 has been financially challenging, the impact of the devastating cyber-attack in 
August 2017 and subsequent recovery has been significant and continues. Not only has 
the Council faced significant and unavoidable costs, staff time has been diverted to 
recovery action. On 3rd December 2018 Government issued a Capitalisation Directive in 
relation to the costs associated with the Cyber-attack; this allowed the Council to fund 
revenue costs up to £788k in 2017/18 and £991k in 2018/19 (a total of £1,779k) from 
Capital Receipts.  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
The Executive is recommended to:  
  
1. Note the 2018/19 Q2 Forecast Revenue Outturn of £213k net overspend (See 
Paragraph 1.3 and Appendix A);  

2. Note the 2018/19 Q2 Forecast Capital Outturn (See Paragraph 1.10);  

 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. The Q1 (to 30th June) Budget monitoring report was reported to the Executive on 
20th November, this report sets out the main changes since Q1. 

Revenue Budget 

1.2. The Net Revenue Budget agreed by Council on 20th February 2018 for 2018/19 
was £9,063k. The 2017/18 budgets carried forward into 2018/19 (subject to 
agreement by the Executive) will be added to the 2018/19 budget as and when 
they are utilised. The 2018/19 budget presented in the table below has been 
restated to reflect the new Corporate Leadership Team structure agreed by 
Council. Some service budgets have also been restated to reflect to the following 
accounting conventions: 

 Recharges between services will only be undertaken if required by statute 
or grant conditions; and 

 Budgets will include gross Expenditure and gross Income. 

1.3. These changes have no impact on the overall Net Budget of the Council. The 
table below summarises the Q2 Forecast Outturn position on spending against 
the Council’s Revenue Budget for 2018/19.  

Directorate / Sources of Funding £'000
Original 

Budget

Net 

Expenditure
Forecast Q2 Variance Q1 Variance

Chief Executive 4,518 2,303 5,209 691 746

Operations 4,545 1,011 5,358 813 692

Net budget Requirement 9,063 3,314 10,567 1,504 1,438

Total Sources of Finance (9,063) (4,532) (9,363) (300) (200)

Net Overspend / (Underspend) BEFORE Capitalisation of Cyber costs 1,204 1,238

Funding of Cyber costs from Capital Receipts (991) (991)

Net Overspend / (Underspend) AFTER Capitalisation of cyber costs 213 247  

1.4. The Forecast Outturn for the Council shows a forecast net overspend of £213k; 
this is made up of an overspend against the directorates budget £1,504k, offset 
by forecast increased sources of funding of (£300k) and further offset by funding 
of cyber costs from capital receipts of (£991k).  

1.5. The Directorate forecast overspend is across a number of services within each 
Directorate, these are summarised in the following paragraphs, with Appendix A 
showing all service areas within each Directorate.  

Page 22



Chief Executives Directorate 

Directorate / Service £’000 Variance 

Property & Estates 147 

Financial Services 452 

Commercial 75 

Other 17 

Total 691 

 

1.6. A summary of the main variances and principal changes since Q2 are summarised 
below:  

i. Property and Estates: The net overspend of £147k has not changed since 
Q1 and is primarily due to a delay in the accommodation project resulting in 
an overspend against the Copeland Centre of £500k, this is partly offset by 
use of the property reserve and savings on maintenance budgets. 

ii. Financial Services: The net overspend of £452k has not changed since Q1, 
there are broadly three elements making up the forecast overspend: 

 A staffing forecast overspend of £112k due to interim staff 
employed in Q1 and an increase in staff to strengthen the finance 
function. 

 A forecast shortfall of investment income of £150k; this is broadly 
consistent with the 2017/18 provisional outturn. 

 A forecast overspend of £112k relating to the upgrade of the cash 
receipting system required following the cyber-attack. 

iii. Commercial: The net overspend of £75k has reduced since Q1 by £55k, this 
is primarily due to increases in commercial income in a number of areas 
totalling £55k. These includes Car Parks, Bulky Waste, Commercial Waste 
and Markets. 

Operations Directorate 

Directorate / Service £’000 Variance 

Refuse & Recycling 271 

Business Support 277 

Customer Services 66 

Human Resources 80 

Revenues & Benefits 119 

Total 813 

 

1.1. A summary of the main variances and principal changes since Q2 are Page 23



summarised below: 

i. Refuse & Recycling: The net overspend of £271k has increased by £121k 
since Q1. The overspend is made up of £120k increased forecast staffing 
costs, due to additional unbudgeted staff to meet demand, and a further 
£150k due to the downturn in the global market for recyclate income. 

ii. Business Support: The overspend of £277k is mainly due to additional 
technical officers required to work exclusively on Cyber-Attack Recovery.  
Work includes Security, Recovery, Rebuild, Recover and Restore critical 
systems. 

iii. Customer Services: the overspend of £66k has not changed since Q1 and is 
largely due to a delay in achieving the expected headcount reduction 
following the Support Services Review until full cyber recovery is 
completed. 

iv. Human Resources: Additional costs totaling £80k has not changed since Q1 and 
is required due to the complete loss of the HR System following the cyber-attack. 

v. Revenues & Benefits: The overspend of £119k has not changed since Q1 
and is primarily due to additional staffing costs following the cyber-attack. 

2018/19 Efficiency Plan 

1.7. The 2018/19 Budget agreed by Council on 28th February 2018 identified £1,141k 
of efficiencies required to balance the budget. The forecast position against 
these is set out in the table below: 

Efficiencies £’000  Budget Forecast Variance 

Fees & Charges (122) (122) 0 

Parks and Open Spaces (30) (30) 0 

Waste (365) (215) 150 

Budget Realignment (452) (452) 0 

Vacancy Factor (157) (157) 0 

Pensions (15) (15) 0 

Total (1,141) (991) 150 

 

1.8. At Q1 a shortfall of £150k is expected within the Waste service to meet demand. 
87% of the efficiency plan is forecast to be achieved. 

Sources of Finance 

1.9. Financing of the Council’s net Revenue budget of £9,063k is set out in paragraph 
1.2, the increase in the financing budget of £300k is based on anticipated 
additional income of £200k from the Business Rates Pool and extra Business 
Rates Grants of £100k.  

Page 24



Capital Budget 

1.10. Council approved a Capital Programme for 2018/19 of £4,971k at its meeting on 
20th February 2018. Reprogramming from the 2017/18 capital programme of 
£744k results in a revised capital programme for 2018/19 of £5,680k. 
Expenditure for Q2 in 2018/19 is £465k (Q1 233k) with a forecast outturn of 
£1,493 as set out in the table below giving a balance of £4,187m to be 
considered for reprogramming into future years’ budgets as part of setting the 
2019/20 budget. 

 Directorate / Funding Source 
 Revised 

Budget 

 Expenditure 

to Date 

 Forecast 

Outturn 

 

Reprogram

ming to 

Future Years 

 Accommodation Strategy 1,697 12 30 1,667

 Investment in ICT 250 0 0 250

 Millom Cemetery 2 0 0 2

 Pay & Display Stock 4 0 0 4

 Whitehaven Cemetery Extension 240 0 35 205

 Bereavement Services 900 0 255 645

 Disabled Facilities Grants  618 328 618 0

 Whitehaven Townscape Heritage 

Initiative 
368 76 345 23

 Beacon Museum Expansion 120 0 0 120

 Town Centre Regeneration 731 48 210 521

 Land Development 750 0 0 750

 Total 5,680 465 1,493 4,187  

Treasury Management 

1.11. The Treasury Management function supports the overall objectives and priorities 
of the Council, by the use of effective treasury management techniques. The aim 
is to manage risks and ensure there are sufficient cash resources and long-term 
borrowings to finance the Council’s activities and capital investment programme 
whilst balancing this to the secondary objective of trying to minimise the costs of 
the net interest budget.  

1.12. With long term borrowing of £5m as at 30th September (£5m at 30th June) and 
investments of £40.33m as at 30th September (£46.51m at June), there is a net 
interest income included in the Council’s budget. Successful treasury 
management increases income to help support the revenue budget. Net 
investment income in Q2 is forecast at £47k (£47k in 2017/18), this is c£150k 
below budget and is included in the forecast outturn. Treasury management 
activities will be reviewed in Q3 to ensure investment income is maximised 
however, the budget is likely to be required to be rebased in 2019/20. 

Page 25



1.13. The Council undertook no new borrowing as at 30th September 2018 in 
accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy. It is expected that the 
Council will undertake no further long term borrowing during 2018/19 in 
accordance with the 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy. 

2.  STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  

2.1. Legal comments are: No legal issues arise from this report. 

2.2. The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: Monitoring of the Revenue Budget is an 
Executive function.  The report is for noting purposes only and no decisions are 
required.  There are therefore no governance issues or implications to report. 

2.3. The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the report 

3. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 

3.1. As set out in the report. 

4. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS 
GOING TO BE  MANAGED? 

4.1. The Q1 forecast position for 2018/19 is the second report of the budget 
monitoring cycle for that year.  

List of Appendices: Appendix A - 2018/19 Q2 Forecast Outturn by Service 
 

Page 26



Appendix A – Q2 2018/19 Directorate Forecast Outturn by Service 
 

 

Budget
YTD Net 

Expenditure
Forecast Q2 Variance Q1 Variance

Chief Executive

Chief Executive 165,584 68,760 165,584 0 0

Communications 75,591 21,632 75,591 0 0

Development Control 10,312 (72,976) 10,312 0 0

Building Control 88,890 41,914 88,890 0 0

Property & Estates 1,834,684 800,787 1,981,684 147,000 147,000

Strategic Planning 203,143 31,549 203,143 0 0

Financial Services 489,071 458,940 941,071 452,000 452,000

Commercial 98,176 57,487 173,176 75,000 130,000

Elections 221,248 129,847 221,248 0 0

Democratic Services 503,195 282,457 503,195 0 0

Internal Audit 117,961 61,484 117,961 0 0

Legal & Procurement Services 205,319 34,497 205,319 0 0

Environmental Health 417,274 263,486 434,274 17,000 17,000

Nuclear 87,725 123,097 87,725 0 0

Chief Executive Total 4,518,173 2,302,964 5,209,173 691,000 746,000

Executive Director - Operations

Beacon Museum 147,003 132,221 147,003 0 0

Copeland Community Fund 0 105,886 0 0 0

Refuse & Recycling 1,565,833 1,227,491 1,836,833 271,000 150,000

Head of Corporate Resources 142,692 60,260 142,692 0 0

Business Support 806,879 710,047 1,083,679 276,800 276,800

Customer Services 303,634 163,974 369,634 66,000 66,000

Human Resources 325,879 154,130 405,879 80,000 80,000

Economic Development 165,454 (429,497) 165,454 0 0

Park & Open Spaces 10,709 134,536 10,709 0 0

Environmental Health 48,728 0 48,728 0 0

Executive Director of Operations 141,282 100,785 141,282 0 0

Revenues & Benefits 364,847 (740,631) 483,847 119,000 119,000

Strategic Housing 521,917 (607,900) 521,917 0 0

Executive Director - Operations Total 4,544,857 1,011,302 5,357,657 812,800 691,800

Grand Total 9,063,030 3,314,266 10,566,830 1,503,800 1,437,800  

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Proposals for Council Tax Discount and Premium Scheme

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Cllr Allan Holiday 
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Executive Director
REPORT AUTHOR: Janet Sinnott, Revenues Team Leader

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS?

The proposals will generate additional income from changes to discounts on empty 
properties and long term empty properties. This could be used to offset the costs of the 
Council Tax Reduction (CTR) scheme and other budget savings the Council is required to 
make. The introduction of this refreshed and updated version of council tax discounts and 
premiums will also assist in ensuring long term empty properties, which can often 
contribute to the decline of local areas, will potentially become available for immediate 
housing use.

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?

This report contains a key decision on approving the attached Council Tax Discount and 
Premium Scheme, which will be applicable from 1st April 2019.

RECOMMENDATION: The Executive is asked to consider the proposals, agree the draft 
policy and to recommend to Council for approval.  

1.       INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 contained a number of technical changes           
which gave councils greater freedom to vary existing discounts and exemptions from 
Council Tax on empty homes. These changes were effective from 1st April 2013. 

1.2 With effect from 1st April 2016, this was amended further and Local Authorities were 
given the discretion to reduce the discount to zero. 

1.3 From 1st April 2013, councils were also given the discretion to charge a premium, at a 
maximum allowable rate of 50%, for empty and unfurnished properties which had 
been empty for more than 2 years. 

1.4 Since 1st April 2013, Copeland Borough Council has exercised its discretion and 
awarded discounts from Council Tax for empty homes. We have also applied a 50% 
premium after 2 years on empty and unfurnished properties. 

1.5 Copeland Borough Council has awarded the following discounts and charged the 
additional premium in the instances below:

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



Type Award Cost  
(01.04.18-
07.12.18)

Properties 
(07.12.18)

Annual Cost 
2017/18

Uninhabitable 50% discount for 12 
months

74,000 75 53,610

Empty & 
Unfurnished

50% discount for 3 
months, followed by 10% 
discount up to 2 years

531,000 717 518,000

Second 
Homes

0% discount 119,000 834 127,608

Type Award Income 
(01.04.18 – 
07.12.18)

Properties Income 
2017/18

Premium 
Properties

50% premium (150% 
Council Tax payable)

248,000 392 223,545

2. DISCUSSION

2.1 Council Tax collected helps fund Copeland Borough Council, Cumbria County Council, 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria and the Parish Council Services. 

The income received is split as follows:

Copeland Borough Council – 12%                                                                                        
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria – 13%                                                                              
Cumbria County Council – 75%

2.2 As highlighted above, £605,000 is currently being awarded in council tax discounts 
and the decision to award these is discretionary.  This equates to a reduction in 
council tax revenue of £605,000. The full financial impact to Copeland Borough 
Council, as a result of awarding these discounts, is £72,600.  

2.3 Copeland Borough Council proposes the following changes to the level of council tax 
discounts and premiums charged for empty homes:

Discount type Existing 
discount

Proposed 
discount

Full financial impact 
based on estimated 
01.04.18 - 07.02.18 
figures

Financial 
impact 
for CBC 
(12%)

Uninhabitable 50% for 12 
months

50% for 6 
months

37,000 4,440

Empty and 
Unfurnished 
properties

50% for 3 
months 
followed by 
10% for 2 
years

100% 
discount for 
28 days 

300,000 36,000

Second 
Homes

0% Discount No Change N/A N/A

Page 30



Premium 50% premium 
(150% Council 
Tax payable)

100% 
premium 
(200% 
Council Tax 
payable)

248,000 29,760

Total 585,000 70,200

2.4 Changes to the scheme as detailed above would generate an additional £585,000 
council tax income. The additional revenue available to Copeland Borough Council is 
12% of this estimated figure, which is £70,200. 

2.5 The tax base for 19/20 is calculated using the existing number of properties and 
discounts awarded. If the above is adopted, the reductions in discounts and increase 
in premium will be accounted for when calculating the tax base for 19/20. 

2.6 For uninhabitable properties, the current discount of 50% for 12 months is 
considered excessive in the current climate. 

2.7 In order to continue to offer an incentive, Copeland Borough Council proposes to 
alter this discount and reduce the allowable period to 6 months. The amount of 
discount offered will remain at 50%. 

2.8 This is considered to be an appropriate length of time to support property owners 
who are carrying out extensive work to render their property habitable. 

2.9 For empty and unfurnished properties, the current discount of 50% for 3 months 
with an additional 10% up to a period of 2 years is also considered excessive.

2.10 Copeland Borough Council proposes to alter the discount to a 100% exemption from 
council tax for a period of 28 days. After 28 days the full charge will become due and 
no discount will be awarded. 

2.11 This award will also support the landlord community, by allowing a 100% exemption 
for a maximum of 28 days, which is considered to be an appropriate length of time 
to secure a new tenancy. 

2.12 If the property is rendered uninhabitable between tenancies, the property owner 
would be eligible for the major works discount, which will allow a 50% discount for 6 
months. 

2.13 For premium properties, the decision to award a 50% premium for properties that 
have been empty for between 2 and 5 years (1st April 2013 to the current financial 
year) has been adopted by more than 290 Local Authorities. All but 3 are charging 
the premium at the maximum allowable 50% rate. 

Page 31



2.14 Legislation introduced in March 2018 originally contained provision for councils to 
double the rate of tax on properties that had been empty for 2 years or more, with 
effect from 1st April 2019. 

2.15 The government has introduced an amendment to this in November 2018 - The 
Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 
2018, which allows councils to triple the council tax on homes left empty for 5 to 10 
years and quadruple it for those left empty for more than a decade. 

2.16 These proposals could see the following premiums being charged on long term 
empty properties: 

Properties empty 
between 2 and 5 
years

100% EHP 
payable

200% Council 
Tax  payable

With effect 
from 1/4/2019

392 properties 
as at 7.12.18

Properties empty 
between 5 and 10 
years

200% EHP 
payable

300% Council 
Tax payable

With effect 
from 1/4/2020

(81) 

Properties empty 
over 10 

years

300% EHP 
payable

400% Council 
Tax payable

With effect 
from 1/4/2021

(49)

2.17 The amendment comes primarily from government to ensure that communities have 
the housing they need. These government proposals will provide councils with extra 
flexibility to increase bills and bring long-standing empty homes back into use. 

2.18 Nationally, there are just over 200,000 homes that have been empty for 6 months or 
more, compared to 300,000 in 2010. This number has reduced significantly since 
2013, after councils were given the powers to charge a 50% premium on council tax 
bills under these circumstances. 

2.19 The government is clear that the premium must not be applied where homeowners 
can demonstrate that their properties are genuinely on the market for sale or rent, 
or in cases of hardship. 

2.20 There are also various exemptions and no council tax at all can be charged on empty 
furnished properties where the single liable council taxpayer:

 has gone into care or hospital, or has gone elsewhere to provide care or receive care. 
 has left their home empty as they have gone elsewhere to study
 has died and probate is yet to be granted

Page 32



 no council tax premium is charged on empty annexes being used as part of a main 
property.

2.21 Under the New Homes Bonus scheme introduced in 2011, councils already have 
powers and incentives to tackle empty homes, as we can earn the same financial 
reward for bringing an empty home back into use as for building a new one. This will 
have a potential positive effect on the new homes bonus payments which is 
impacted on by reducing the number of empty properties in the area. 

3. CONCLUSION

3.1 The Council has taken the opportunity to review its Council Tax premiums and 
discounts to identify opportunities to ensure government policy and our 
commitment to improving our towns and neighbourhoods and our social inclusion 
priorities are considered in a revised approach.   Section 2 sets out the proposals for 
revisions to the current position highlighting the costs and benefits.

3.2 Executive is requested to agree and support the proposals for a new empty homes 
council tax discount scheme.  Executive is asked to recommend adoption of the 
revised policy at Appendix A to the next Full Council.

4. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS:

4.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: 

There are no legal implications arising within the report.

4.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: The resource and value for money 
considerations are contained within this report.

4.3 EIA comments:  Government have undertaken an equality assessment on the 
opportunities it is providing to local authorities to offer premiums and discounts and 
these have been identified in section 2.   The Council is guided by its approved 
equality scheme in the implementation of any premiums or discounts it sets.

4.4 Policy Framework:   The Council has a corporate ambition to strengthen the way it 
works and this is particularly relevant to maximising income from council tax and 
empty properties and looking to reduce the number of empty homes by bringing 
pressure through increased council tax on empty home owners.

4.5 Other Consultees Comments:   an internal working group has developed the 
proposals and shared ideas with other local authorities to identify best practice.

Page 33



5.      HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS 
GOING TO BE MANAGED? 

5.1 There will be a temporary increase to the workload from monitoring the effect of the 
reduced discounts. This will be managed by the Revenues Team and overseen by the 
Revenues Team Leader. 

5.2 It is anticipated by streamlining the discounts, that we will reduce the level of 
administration created from the queries and work generated during a 2-year period 
down to a 28-day period for empty and unfurnished homes. This will also be cut in 
half from 12 months to 6 months for uninhabitable properties. 

5.3 Long term awards do create more work due to the requirement to review the cases 
throughout.  

5.4 There is a risk in how this might impact in terms of debt recovery, as it is often more 
difficult to recover council tax from a property that is empty. This will be monitored 
as part of the monthly operational risk management activity and swift recovery 
action will be taken against non-payers. 

6.      WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS REPORT?

6.1     A new discount scheme for empty properties which reflects new government 
guidance and ensures the council is focusing on its corporate strategy of addressing 
empty homes as part of its town centre regeneration ambition. 

APPENDICES

Appendix A Council Tax Discount and Premium Policy for Empty Homes (Draft) 2019

REGULATIONS

 The Local Government Finance Act 2012  
 The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 

2018
 The Council Tax (Exempt Dwelling) (England) (Amendment) Order 2012 SI 2012/2965 

01st April 2013
 The Council Tax (Prescribed Classes of Dwellings) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2012 SI 2012/2964  - 1st April 2013

Page 34



Appendix A

COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS 
AND PREMIUM POLICY FOR 

EMPTY HOMES

Version 0.1: December 2018 

Page 35



Council Tax Discount and Premium Policy V01 December 2018

Page 2 of 8

2
Document Control 

Organisation Copeland Borough Council
Title Council Tax Discount and Premium Policy
Version V1
Author Janet Sinnott
Filename Discount and Premium Policy
Owner Julie Betteridge
Subject Council Tax Discounts and Premiums
Protective Marking
Review Date December 2019

Revision History

Version 
Reviewed

Date Reviewed Reviewed By Description of Revision

Document Approval 

Version Approved By Date
Human Resources
Corporate Leadership Team
Trade Union Consultation
Executive
Full Council

Document Distribution

This policy is to be distributed to all staff and elected members of Copeland Borough Council 
and placed on the Council’s Intranet Site. A copy must also be provided to contractors and 3rd 
parties undertaking work on Copeland Borough Council premises.  

Contributors

Janet Sinnott Revenues Team Leader

Page 36



Council Tax Discount and Premium Policy V01 December 2018

Page 3 of 8

3
Contents

1.  Purpose ....................................................................................................................................4
2.  Policy Benefits ..........................................................................................................................4
3.  Scope.................................................................................................................................……..4
4.  Definitions ................................................................................................................................4
5.  Introduction .............................................................................................................................5
6.  Roles and Responsibilities .......................................................................................................5
7.  Policy Details including Procedures.........................................................................................5
7.  Uninhabitable....................................................................................................................5
8.  Empty and Unfurnished .....................................................................................................7
9.  Premiums ..........................................................................................................................7
10. Second Homes.........................................................................................................................8                  
11. Policy Review ...................................................................................................................8

Page 37



Council Tax Discount and Premium Policy V01 December 2018

Page 4 of 8

4
1. Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this Discount and Premium Policy is to provide guidance, regarding 
discounts from council tax for empty properties, and additional charges incurred 
through the Empty Homes Premium.

1.2 The policy has regard to the councils Empty Homes Policy, and reflects these policy 
aspirations, by seeking to assist in returning to use empty homes across the borough. 

2. Policy Benefits 
 
2.1 The policy will generate additional income from changes to discounts on empty 

properties and long term empty properties. 

2.2 We will potentially bring more empty homes back into use within quicker timeframes, 
supporting more families who are in need of a place to call home. 

2.3 We will potentially increase the new homes bonus payment, which is impacted on by 
reducing the number of empty properties in the area. 

2.4 Long term empty properties can often have a negative impact on local communities 
and contribute to the decline of areas. By bringing these properties back into use 
swiftly, we are recognising the impact that this has on the majority. 

2.5 Long term empty properties are more likely to be in a state of disrepair and in some 
instances will attract vandalism. By seeking to bring these properties back into use, we 
are supporting the communities that are most affected by these circumstances. 

3. Scope
3.1 The scope of this policy covers the principal areas of discounts and additional charges 

available through the collection of council tax. 

4. Definitions
4.1 Long Term Empty

More than 2 years in length

4.2 Second Home

Property owners that have a main home elsewhere. These properties are substantially 
furnished. 

Page 38



Council Tax Discount and Premium Policy V01 December 2018

Page 5 of 8

5
5. Introduction
5.1 The Local Government Finance Act 2012, contained a number of technical changes, 

which gave councils greater freedom to vary existing discounts from council tax on 
empty homes. 

5.2 These changes also provided councils with the option to charge an additional premium, 
of up to 50%, on properties that have been empty for a long term. Long term is defined 
as a period of more than 2 years. 

5.3 The government introduced an amendment in November 2018 - The Rating (Property in 
Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018, which allows 
councils to further increase the council tax premium on long term empty properties. 

5.4 This document sets out the general principles to be applied regarding council tax 
discounts and premiums. It is designed to fully support the councils wider corporate 
objectives, and to also compliment the councils Empty Homes Policy, by ensuring that 
long term empty properties are available for immediate housing use.  

6. Roles and Responsibilities
6.1 With effect from 1st April 2019, and in line with the greater freedoms that the Authority 

has been provided with by government, Copeland Borough Council will award the 
following discounts and charge additional premiums under the following circumstances:

7. Details 
7.0 Discount if your property is uninhabitable

7.1 This discount is only available to unoccupied and unfurnished properties that are 
classed by the council as uninhabitable. The property must meet one of the following 
two criteria to qualify:

a) requires or is undergoing major repair works to render it habitable; or
b) is undergoing structural alteration that has not been substantially completed 

This discount does not apply where the works being undertaken are cosmetic. 

7.2 An application form will be required and we may also visit the property to confirm the 
position. We will require confirmation that the work has already commenced, as no 
discount will be awarded until the work has started. Photographic evidence will be 
accepted. 

Page 39



Council Tax Discount and Premium Policy V01 December 2018

Page 6 of 8

6
7.3 Copeland Borough Council will require an estimated time frame for the property to be 

rendered habitable, as the discount will only be awarded for the length of time that it 
takes to render the property habitable. 

7.4 Eligible properties will receive a 50% discount for a maximum period of 6 months.

7.5 Retrospective awards over long periods will not be accepted, as the Authority is unable 
to verify the position at the property. 

7.6 Examples of what constitutes major work:

ROOFS  Major repairs to roof structures (not general repairs)

EXTERNAL 
WALLS

 Rebuilding defective walls
 Replacement of brickwork due to movement/underpinning
 Rebuilding of gable end wall

FOUNDATIONS
 Repair/renewal of foundations
 Underpinning substandard foundations

FLOORS
 Replacing defective solid floors (not floorboards)
 Replacing defective floor joists

INTERNAL
 Replacing defective/unsafe staircase (not treads or risers)
 Replacing defective ceiling joists
 Rebuilding defective walls
 Structural joists/RSJs
 Lintels – only structural
 Major fire/flood damage
 Major re-plastering down to brickwork
 Damp proof course
 Remove complete chimney breast 
 Erection of new internal  or demolition of walls/partitions

7.7 The following will not be classed as major repair work or structural repairs singularly, 
although a combination of these, along with confirmation that the property is empty, 
unfurnished and uninhabitable, may be considered:

 Skimming/replastering (walls or ceilings)
 Bathroom and kitchen refits
 Main service reconnections
 Redecoration/wall tiling
 Electric rewire/ Gas fitting
 Maintenance (repointing, rendering)
 Internal joinery/floorboards

Page 40



Council Tax Discount and Premium Policy V01 December 2018

Page 7 of 8

7
8. Empty and unfurnished properties

8.1 With effect from 1st April 2019, as long as the property is left empty and substantially 
unfurnished, a 100% discount from council tax will be awarded for a period of 28 
days. 

8.2 The empty and unfurnished discount is considered following submission of the relevant 
application form, which can be obtained by contacting the Revenues Team. 
Confirmation that the property has been left unoccupied and unfurnished and the 
effective date will be required. 

8.3 Retrospective awards over long periods will not be accepted, as the Authority is unable 
to verify the position at the property. 

8.4 No discount will be awarded after a period of 28 days has elapsed and the full council 
tax is due after this period. 

8.5 If the property remains empty and unfurnished for 2 years or more, a premium will be 
applied to the council tax bill. 

9. Premiums 

9.1 Since 1st April 2013, a 50% premium has been payable on top of the full council tax 
charge, for properties which have been unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for 2 
years or more. 

9.2 This equates to 150% Council Tax payable.  

9.3 The 2 years commence from when the property first became empty, regardless of 
ownership.

9.4 With effect from 1st April 2019, Copeland Borough Council will charge the following 
premiums after the relevant period has elapsed:

Properties empty 
between 2 and 5 
years

100% EHP 
payable

200% Council Tax  in 
total payable With effect from 1/4/2019

Properties empty 
between 5 and 10 
years

200% EHP 
payable

300% Council Tax in 
total payable With effect from 1/4/2020

Properties empty
over 10 years

300% EHP 
payable

400% Council Tax in
total payable With effect from 1/4/2021

9.5 There are also various exemptions and no council tax at all can be charged on empty 
furnished properties where the single liable council taxpayer:

 has gone into care or hospital, or has gone elsewhere to provide care or receive care. 
 has left their home empty as they have gone elsewhere to study
 has died and probate is yet to be granted

Page 41



Council Tax Discount and Premium Policy V01 December 2018

Page 8 of 8

8
 no council tax premium is charged on empty annexes being used as part of a main 

property.

9.6 Copeland Borough Council will consider reviewing the premium that has been applied, 
where homeowners can demonstrate that their properties are genuinely on the market 
for sale or rent, or in cases of serious financial hardship. 

9.7 It is expected that when a property has been vacant for two years, and attempts to sell 
the property have been unsuccessful, that a professional agent with specialist 
knowledge of the locality will have been engaged. Copeland Borough Council will 
require evidence from a professional agent to support your application. 

9.8 Application forms are available from the Revenues Team. Each case will be treated 
strictly on its own merits and all applicants will be treated equally and fairly in 
accordance with the scheme.

10. Second Homes

10.1 No discount or premium applies to a property that is substantially furnished and classed 
as a second home. 

10.2 Confirmation of your main home is required on application of the second home status. 
100% council tax is payable in such cases. 

11. Policy Review
11.1 This policy will be reviewed on an annual basis or sooner if there is a change in 

legislation that would affect its operation.

Page 42


	Agenda
	2 Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 20 November 2018
	6 Forward Plan
	7 2018/19 Revenue & Capital Budget Monitoring Report - Quarter 2
	8 Proposals for Council Tax Discount and Premium Scheme
	Discount and Premium Policy Draft 2019 JS1


